RECEIVED

Jul 29 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-46-02090
Appellate Case No. 2023-001398

Sherry Killian Duncan, Appellant,

v.

Gurdip S. Gill a/k/a Gary Gurdip
a/k/a Gary Gurdip Gill, Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

GLEISSNER LAW FIRM, LLC

s/ Richard R. Gleissner

Richard R. Gleissner, Esquire
S.C. Bar Number 15139
Gleissner Law Firm, L.L.C.
1316 Washington Street, Suite 101
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 787-0505
Attorneys for the Appellant

FACTS

In November of 2018, Appellant, Sherry Duncan ("Ms. Duncan"), and Respondent, Gurdip Gill ("Mr. Gill"), entered into a partnership agreement. (R. pp. 216-219; p. 408 ¶¶ 21-25; p. 409 ¶¶ 1-12 p. 411 ¶¶ 17-25; p. 412 ¶¶ 1-4; p. 422 ¶¶ 22-24; p. 425 ¶¶ 23-25; p. 426 ¶¶ 1-11). The terms of the agreement were that she was to provide her time and talent to the partnership in the flipping of the Property located at 445 Rainbow Circle, Clover, South Carolina (hereinafter referred to as "Property"). (R. pp. 218-219; p. 408 ¶¶ 21-25; p. 409 ¶¶ 1-12; p. 410 ¶¶ 5-15). As part of the partnership agreement, the Defendant was to (a) contribute half of the funds for the purchase of the Property and all of the funds for the purchase of the materials that the Plaintiff used in the improvements of the Property and (b) in light of Duncan foregoing other projects and employment and living off of her savings, make payments to Duncan for monthly

draws of \$2,400 against the future disbursement from the sale of the Property when her personal savings ran out. (R. pp. 218 ¶ 25; p. 219 ¶¶ 1-5, 17-21; p. 220 ¶¶ 1-25; p. 221 ¶¶ 1-5, 19-25; p. 222 ¶¶ 1-6; p. 325 ¶¶ 11-23; p. 351 ¶¶ 5-13).

Duncan made significant contributions to the partnership including her use of her time in making improvements to the Property, her talent in making managerial decisions as it related to the aesthetics of the Property, and her talent with regards to facilitating the remaining improvements needed to the Property. (R. pp. 218 ¶¶ 19-24; p. 220 ¶¶ 12-25; p. 221 ¶¶ 1-13; p. 223 ¶¶ 20-25; p. 224 ¶¶ 1-7; p. 243 ¶¶ 2-17; p. 250 ¶¶ 1-25; p. 248 ¶¶ 1-12; p. 251 ¶¶ 1-6, 10-19; p. 267 ¶¶ 11-23; p. 268 ¶¶ 14-20; p. 271 ¶¶ 1-9; p. 275 ¶¶ 9-24; p. 276 ¶¶ 10-14; p. 277 ¶¶ 2-16 p. 278 ¶¶ 1-22 p. 279 ¶¶ 23-25; p. 280 ¶¶ 1-4; p. 281 ¶¶ 1-18; p. 282 ¶¶ 4-22; p. 283 ¶¶ 1-25; p. 285 ¶¶ 4-11; p. 287 ¶¶ 1-13; p. 290 ¶¶ 17-21; p. 291 ¶¶ 1-6; p. 292 ¶¶ 3-9; p. 294 ¶¶ 13-17; p. 296 ¶¶ 4-12, 15-18; p. 298 ¶¶ 19-24; p. 299 ¶¶ 4-9, 13-19; p. 302 ¶¶ 1-11; p. 303 ¶¶ 1-8; p. 307 ¶¶ 11-20; p. 308 ¶¶ 2-8; p. 311 ¶¶ 2-22; p. 378 ¶¶ 18-25; p. 379 ¶¶ 1-6; p. 380 ¶ 25; p. 381 ¶¶ 1-20; p. 383 ¶¶ 15-25; p. 387 ¶¶ 20-25; p. 388 ¶¶ 1-9; p. 392 ¶¶ 11-17; p. 396-400). The parties agreed that when the Property was sold, the Duncan was to receive half of the net profits less any draws. (R. pp. 219-220). They further agreed that the initial agreement was for the property to be purchased together. (R. pp. 216-217). Duncan later discovered that the Property was, instead, purchased without her knowledge by the Respondent. (R. pp. 216-217; 341-342). Mr. Gill continued, however, to show that he intended to work with her and carry on with the partnership. (R. pp. 225 ¶¶ 21-23; p. 237 ¶¶ 3-13; p. 246 ¶¶ 11-25; p. 247 ¶¶ 1-2; p. 250 ¶¶ 1-13, 23-25; p. 251 ¶¶ 1-3; p. 254 ¶¶ 6-9; p. 261 ¶¶ 3-18; p. 263 ¶¶ 6-14; p. 266 ¶¶ 1-11; p. 270 ¶¶ 12-17; p. 285 ¶¶ 10-16; pp. 165-172; p. 294 ¶¶ 13-17; p. 300 ¶¶ 15-25; p. 303 ¶¶ 1-8; p. 306 ¶¶ 1-9; p. 313 ¶¶ 11-20; p. 314 ¶¶ 16-19; p. 321 ¶¶ 8-12). In reliance upon these

assurances, Ms. Duncan sacrificed and passed up continued work on another project in order to begin work for this partnership immediately. (R. p. 221 ¶¶ 19-25; p. 222 ¶¶ 1-6; p. 343 ¶¶ 10-19; p. 363 ¶ 25; p. 364 ¶¶ 1-6).

During this time, Mr. Gill provided Ms. Duncan with credit cards that she was authorized to use for purchases of materials to be used to improve the Property. (R. p. 220 ¶¶ 24-25; p. 221 ¶¶ 1-5; p. 296 ¶¶ 4-10; p. 304 ¶¶ 2-4; p. 355 ¶¶ 1-8). She, similarly, had authority to make decisions with regard to aesthetic features of the Property for which she consulted with the Defendant on those choices. (R. p. 220 ¶¶ 12-23; p. 232 ¶¶ 13-22; p. 234 ¶¶ 13-20; p. 235 ¶¶ 18-25; p. 236 ¶¶ 1-2, 6-25; P. 237 ¶¶ 1-11; p. 238 ¶¶ 23-25; p. 239 ¶¶ 1-25; p. 240 ¶¶ 1-2; p. 294 ¶¶ 13-17; p. 312 ¶¶ 10-19). Ms. Duncan, also, managed and oversaw other workers at the property. (R. pp. 381-383).

Ultimately, the Property was purchased for \$93,000, extensively improved, and later sold for \$280,000. (R. p. 215 ¶¶ 19-24 p. 320 ¶¶ 9-16; p. 324 ¶ 25; p. 325 ¶ 1; Tr. Exhibit 1 (R. pp. 471-473); and Tr. Exhibit 93 (R. pp. 478-789)). Instead of receiving the agreed upon \$2,400 in monthly draws, the Mr. Gill, in breach of the agreement only gave Ms. Duncan her a \$2,000 draw in April 2019 and a \$1,100 draw in May of 2019. (R. p. 215 ¶¶ 19-24 p. 320 ¶¶ 9-16; p. 324 ¶ 25; p. 325 ¶ 1).

After Ms. Duncan demanded payments in accordance with the agreement, Mr. Gill withheld her access to the Property, including changing the locks. (R. p. 335). Mr. Gill then denied the existence of a partnership and attempted to extort the economically vulnerable position of the Appellant into accepting a settlement agreement. (R. p. 368 ¶¶ 21-25; p. 369 ¶¶ 1-25; p. 370 ¶¶ 1-16; p. 396 ¶¶ 6-19; p. 397 ¶¶ 5-20; pp. 168-172; p. 400 ¶¶ 19-24). She testified that after drafting a proposed settlement agreement, the Defendant demanded his

attorney make changes before he would agree to sign. (R. p. 330 ¶¶ 7-19; p. 331 ¶¶ 7-10; p. 332 ¶¶ 1-12; p. 336 ¶¶ 2-8; p. 337 ¶¶ 16-25; p. 338 ¶¶ 1-10).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT, IN AN EFFORT TO QUICKLY END ITS TRIAL OBLIGATIONS, ERRED IN FINDING THAT NO EVIDENCE EXISTED THAT SUPPORTED THE CLAIMS BROUGHT BY APPELLANT AGAINST THE RESPONDENT FOR HIS FRAUDULENT ACTS?

2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY IGNORED RULE 408 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE WHEN ADMITTING EVIDENCE CO

3. CONCERNING COMPROMISE NEGOTIATIONS OF THE APPELLANT AND RESPONDENT?

4. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THE OUT OF COURT STATEMENTS OF THE RESPONDENT WERE INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY EVIDENCE?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A directed verdict should be granted where the evidence raises no issue for the jury as to the Respondent's liability.” *Fletcher v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 390 S.C. 458, 462, 702 S.E.2d 372, 374 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Guffey v. Columbia/Colleton Reg'l Hosp., Inc.*, 364 S.C. 158, 163, 612 S.E.2d 695, 697 (2005)). “A jury issue exists where the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference.” *Jones v. Ridgely Commc 'ns*, 304 S.C. 452, 454, 405 S.E.2d 402, 403 (1991). “When considering directed verdict and JNOV motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence.” *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 300, 536 S.E.2d 408, 419 (2000). The trial court should be “concerned only with the existence or non-existence of evidence,” not its credibility or weight. *Jones v. General Elec. Co.*, 331 S.C. 351, 356, 503 S.E.2d 173, 176 (1998) (citing *Garrett v. Locke*, 309 S.C. 94, 99, 419 S.E.2d 842, 845 (Ct. App. 1992)). Further,

it is not unusual for a case to have contradictory evidence and inconsistent testimony from a witness. In a law case tried before a jury, it is the jury that must

decide what part of the witness's testimony it wants to believe and what part it wants to disbelieve. Under such circumstances, it is not the function of this Court to weigh the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses.

Weaver v. Lentz, 348 S.C. 672, 680-81, 561 S.E.2d 360, 365 (2002).

ARGUMENT

The Court erred when it (1) directed verdict for the Respondent; (2) allowed inadmissible evidence of settlement discussions; and (3) precluded evidence exempt from the rule of hearsay. The evidence presented to the Court and jury provided ample evidence raising issues of fact for the jury to decide whether the Respondent breached a contract with the Appellant, such breach was accompanied by fraudulent acts, a constructive trust was created with regard to the Property, and whether Appellant was entitled to damages under the betterment statute. These errors were prejudicial and, therefore, should be overturned and a new trial granted to the Appellant.

I. The Court erred in directing a verdict for the Respondent.

The evidence presented to the Court and jury provided ample evidence raising issues of fact for the jury to decide whether the Respondent breached a contract with the Appellant, such breach was accompanied by fraudulent acts, a constructive trust was created with regard to the Property, and whether Appellant was entitled to damages under the betterment statute. Therefore, the Court erred in directing a verdict for the Respondent.

A. Appellant adequately presented a prima facie case for a breach of contract action.

In the first cause of action brought by Appellant, Duncan alleged Gill had breached a contract between the two of them regarding a partnership or joint venture regarding a certain piece of real Property. “The elements for breach of contract are the existence of the contract, its breach, and the damages caused by such breach.” *Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 386 S.C.

43, 48, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 (2009). The evidence presented to the Court and jury, including testimony, photographs, and records of deeds, demonstrated the terms of the agreement, the Respondent's failure to perform under that agreement, and the damages Duncan suffered as a direct result of Respondent's breach of the agreement. Such evidence foreclosed the granting of a directed verdict and, therefore, this Court should find the trial court's ruling erroneous.

i. The evidence supported a finding of an existence of a contract.

South Carolina law provides that the partnership arrangement between Duncan and Gill and Gill's subsequent failure to pay Duncan from the profits of the sale of the Property meet the requirements for an action for breach of contract.

Where the parties to a contract, by their acts, conduct, or agreement show that they intended to combine their property, labor, skill and experience, or some of these elements on one side, and some on the other, to carry on, as principals or co-owners, a common business, trade, or venture as a commercial enterprise, and to share, either expressly or by implication, the profits and losses or expenses that may be incurred, such parties are partners.

Stephens v. Stephens, 213 S.C. 525, 532, 50 S.E.2d 577, 580 (1948). A partnership is an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-41-210 (Supp. 2003); see *Wyman v. Davis*, 223 S.C. 172, 174, 74 S.E.2d 694, 698 (1953); *Halbersberg v. Berry*, 302 S.C. 97, 101, 394 S.E.2d 7, 10 (1990); *Beck v. Clarkson*, 300 S.C. 293, 301, 387 S.E.2d 681, 685 (1989); *Buffkin v. Strickland*, 280 S.C. 343, 345, 312 S.E.2d 579, 580 (1984). "A partnership agreement may rest in parol. It may be implied and without express intention." *Wyman*, 223 S.C. at 174, 74 S.E.2d at 698; *Halbersberg*, 302 S.C. at 101, 394 S.E.2d at 10; accord *Beck*, 300 S.C. at 301, 387 S.E.2d at 685; *Buffkin*, 280 S.C. at 345, 312 S.E.2d at 580. Further, a partnership may be found to exist by implication from the parties' conduct. *Corley v. Ott*, 326 S.C. 89, 92, 485 S.E.2d 97, 99 (1997); *Stephens*, 213 S.C. at 532, 50 S.E.2d at 580. "One of the most important tests as to the existence of a partnership is the

intention of the parties.” *Id.* at 530-31, 50 S.E.2d at 579. The evidence presented supported a finding that the Duncan and Gil, by their acts, conduct, and agreement intended to combine their property, labor, skill, and experience to carry on, as partners in the common venture of flipping the Property, and to share the profits and losses or expenses that may be incurred. Specifically, [...]. Thus, Duncan and Gill entered into a partnership.

In its decision to grant the Respondent’s Motion for Directed Verdict, the trial court stressed concern over whether adequate evidence was presented concerning Appellant’s control over the “partnership.” Not only was adequate evidence of control presented by Appellant, but no such showing is required under South Carolina law. To determine whether a partnership exists, the following tests are used: (1) the sharing of profits and losses; (2) community of interest in capital or property; and (3) community of interest in control and management. *Wyman*, 223 S.C. at 181, 74 S.E.2d 694; *Stephens*, 213 S.C. at 531, 50 S.E.2d at 579; *Halbersberg*, 302 S.C. at 101, 394 S.E.2d at 10. Importantly, South Carolina’s Supreme Court has expressly held that a failure of the agreement to meet all three of these would not preclude a finding of a partnership. *Price v. Middleton*, 75 S.C. 105, 108-09, 55 S.E. 156, 157-58 (1906) (subsequently cited approvingly by *Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs.*, 342 S.C. 579, 598, 538 S.E.2d 15, 25 (Ct. App. 2000)). In *Price*, the Supreme Court explicitly held:

Nor is the [finding of a partnership] **determined** by the fact that there is community of interest and that each party is a principal with authority to act as agent for all the others concerned, nor by the **lack** of such authority; for there may be common ownership of property and a power of attorney to each owner from the others to sell and divide the proceeds, but this would confer no right on each to bind the others as partners or to do anything beyond the express authority conferred; and, on the other hand, a valid contract of partnership may be made stipulating that one of the partners would have the management of the business to the exclusion of all the others, and the stipulation would be good between the parties.

Id. (emphasis added). Thus, partners are free to stipulate as to what types of “control” or

management authority each partner may have in the partnership. While true, South Carolina courts have required evidence of control for purposes of finding a joint venture in relation to an imputation of liability to third parties to members of a common enterprise or joint venture, these cases are not only distinguishable but do not concern disputes amongst the partners or joint ventures. *See Spradley v. Houser*, 247 S.C. 208, 212, 146 S.E.2d 621, 623 (1966) (holding control of enterprise as essential for finding common purpose on the part of all employees). Respectfully, the evidence presented at trial provided overwhelming and ample evidence of a partnership between Duncan and Gill.

ii. The evidence supported a finding of the Respondent's breach.

Duncan testified that the Respondent breached three material terms of the partnership agreement. All three were material terms. First, a material term of the partnership agreement was the joint purchasing of the property. Duncan testified that the Respondent, in breach of the agreement, purchased the property in his own name. Second, a material term of the partnership agreement between Duncan and Gill was that they would split the profits. Duncan testified that Gill made no such payments. Further, Duncan testified that while she used her savings during the first four months of the partnership, Respondent promised to make payments of \$2,400 per month as a draw against her share of the profit she was to receive when the Property sold. Appellant testified that Respondent refused to advance the \$2,400 after Ms. Duncan's savings had been exhausted.

iii. The evidence supported a finding of Appellant being directly harmed.

Additionally, the evidence presented provided ample support for a finding that Respondent's breaches, specifically his failure to pay the Appellant her share of the profits, directly harmed her. The purpose of an award of damages for breach of contract is "to give

compensation, that is, to put the Appellant in as good a position as he would have been in had the contract been performed.” *Drews Co. v. Ledwith-Wolfe Assocs., Inc.*, 296 S.C. 207, 209, 371 S.E.2d 532, 533 (1988) (citing 11 S. WILLISTON, *A TREATISE ON THE LAW OF CONTRACTS* § 1338 (3d ed. 1968)). The proper measure of that compensation, then, “is the loss actually suffered by the [Appellant] as the result of the breach.” *Id.* (citing *S.C. Fin. Corp. v. W. Side Fin. Co.*, 236 S.C. 109, 122, 113 S.E.2d 329, 335 (1960)).

In a breach of contract action, damages serve to place the nonbreaching party in the position he would have enjoyed had the contract been performed. [...] In the normal case, the damage will consist of two distinct elements: (1) out-of-pocket costs actually incurred as a result of the contract; and (2) the gain above costs that would have been realized had the contract been performed.

S.C. Fed. Sav. Bank v. Thornton-Crosby Dev. Co., 303 S.C. 74, 77, 399 S.E.2d 8, 10-11 (1990).

Generally, in order for damages to be recoverable, the evidence should be such as to enable the court or jury to determine the amount thereof with reasonable certainty or accuracy. While neither the existence, causation nor amount of damages can be left to conjecture, guess or speculation, proof with mathematical certainty of the amount of loss or damage is not required.

Whisenant v. James Island Corp., 277 S.C. 10, 13, 281 S.E.2d 794, 796 (1981). Here, the Appellant explicitly testified and presented documented evidence concerning the promise for a split in profits resulting from the agreement and the Respondent’s failure to pay those profits to Appellant. Thus, adequate evidence of damages were presented.

“‘Profits’ have been defined as ‘the net pecuniary gain from a transaction, the gross pecuniary gains diminished by the cost of obtaining them.’ *Id.* (citing Restatement of Contracts § 331, Comment B (1932); *See Mali v. Odom*, 295 S.C. 78, 367 S.E.2d 166 (1988) (defining “profits” as the net of income over expenditures during a given period)). Profits lost by a business as the result of a contractual breach have long been recognized as a species of recoverable consequential damage in this state. *John D. Hollingsworth on Wheels, Inc. v. Arkon*

Corp., 279 S.C. 183, 305 S.E.2d 71 (1983); *S.C. Fin. Corp. v. W. Side Fin. Co.*, 236 S.C. 109, 113 S.E.2d 329 (1960). The case of *Drews Co. v. Ledwith-Wolfe Assocs.* articulates the standard of proof for proving lost profits:

The same standards that have for years governed lost profits awards in South Carolina will apply with equal force to cases where damages are sought for a new business or enterprise. First, profits must have been prevented or lost “as a natural consequence of” the breach of contract.

The second requirement is foreseeability; a breaching party is liable for those damages, including lost profits, “which may reasonably be supposed to have been within the contemplation of the parties at the time the contract was made as a probable result of the breach of it.”

The crucial requirement in lost profits determinations is that they be established with reasonable certainty, for recovery cannot be had for profits that are conjectural or speculative. The proof must pass the realm of conjecture, speculation, or opinion not founded on facts, and must consist of actual facts from which a reasonably accurate conclusion regarding the cause and the amount of the loss can be logically and rationally drawn.

Drews Co., 296 S.C. at 213, 371 S.E.2d at 535-36 (internal citations and quotations omitted); *see Beck v. Clarkson*, 300 S.C. 293, 298, 387 S.E.2d 681, 684 (Ct. App. 1989) (citing the factors in *Drews*). The requirement to establish lost profits with “reasonable certainty” permits “an inherent flexibility facilitating the just assessment of profits lost to a new business due to contractual breach.” *Drews Co.*, 296 S.C. at 214, 371 S.E.2d at 536.

The standard for proving lost profits complies with the general rule for recovery of damages, which mandates that the fact finder determine the amount of damages with reasonable certainty from the evidence. *Minter v. GOCT, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 525, 528, 473 S.E.2d 67, 70 (1996). The amount of damages cannot be left to conjecture, guess, or speculation; however, mathematical certainty is not required. *Id.* . . ; *see Yadkin Brick Co. v. Materials Recovery Co., L.P.*, 339 S.C. 640, 646, 529 S.E.2d 764, 767 (2000) (“The amount of damages need not be proved with mathematical certainty. The evidence, however, should be such that a court or jury

can reasonably determine an appropriate amount.”); *Minter*, 322 S.C. at 528, 473 S.E.2d at 70 (“While proof of mathematical certainty is not required, the amount of damages cannot be left to conjecture, guess, or speculation.”). Case law in South Carolina has defined “reasonable certainty”:

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