RECEIVED

May 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Daniel D. Hall
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001398

Sherry Killian Duncan,
Appellant,

vs.

Gurdip S. Gill a/k/a Gary Gurdip a/k/a Gary Gurdip Gill,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

May 17, 2024

/s/ Daniel D. D'Agostino

Daniel D. D'Agostino

S.C. Bar No.: 65088

dan@ddlplaw.com

Jacqueline Davis

S.C. Bar No.: 74778

jackie@ddlplaw.com

D'AGOSTINO/DAVIS LAW GROUP

25 West Liberty Street

York, South Carolina 29745

Office: 803-628-6509

Fax: 803-628-7990

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

or develop sales. Similarly, the court in Peoples Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Myrtle Beach Golf and Yacht Club, et. al., 310 S.C. 132, 425 S.E.2d 764 (Ct. App. 1992), discusses the issue of a joint venture. The court set forth a joint venture exists “where there are two or more persons united in a joint prosecution of a common purpose under such circumstances that each has authority, express or implied, to act for all in respect to the control of the means and the agencies employed to execute such common purpose. Further, in order to constitute a joint enterprise, there must be a common purpose and community of interest in the object of the enterprise, and an equal right to direct and control the conduct of each other with respect thereto.” Id. at 147 and at 774.

The Appellant in her brief references numerous times to the record as to the work she performed on the property. In cross-examination, Appellant acknowledged that most of the work, other than the painting and preparation for painting, was performed by third parties. (Tr. pp 205-217; pp. 81-85; pp. 102- 122; 136; 138; 139; 162- 170). The Appellant further acknowledged that before she made any decisions, she had to receive and get approval for everything from Respondent. (Tr. pp 214- 215) She had to get permission on what to buy even though she had Respondent’s credit card. Respondent paid for all the materials, reimbursed Appellant for everything even for her gas, paid for the purchase of the property, paid all the contractors who worked on the home. (Tr. pp 205- 211) Finally, Appellant testified that she only wanted to be paid for her labor. (Tr. p. 185)

Appellant had no interest in the real estate. She is attempting to assert an interest in the real estate by claiming a joint venture, and this is barred as a matter of law, pursuant to the statute of frauds. An agreement relating to title to property must be in writing, pursuant to the

Statute of Frauds, and cannot be enforced. This entire transaction revolves around the claim that Appellant has an interest in the real estate. The first complaint alleged she did not know Respondent had purchased and titled the property in his name. This was not true as Appellant knew before doing any work that the Respondent owned the property in fee. The second amended complaint tries to avoid this issue of the Statute of Frauds by stating it is not an interest in the real estate but an interest in a joint venture which really is the real estate. Appellant has not produced any evidence to demonstrate performance of any agreement on the part of Respondent. The evidence which Appellant relies upon are her self-serving statements. In today's world of technology, all of her text messages failed to have one reference to the joint venture or the joint venture agreement. (Respondent's Exhibit 1; Tr. pp 189-191). The only reference to an agreement is the contract which Appellant submitted to the Respondent and Respondent never signed. The contract was for payment for services and not as to a joint ownership or venture. (Tr. pp 191-194 and Respondent's Exhibit 2).

As set forth above, the failure of any element of a cause of action supports the trial court's decision to grant a directed verdict. The first and second causes of action are dependent upon the existence of a joint venture and since there is no proof of a joint venture, the trial court did not err in dismissing and directing a verdict as to those causes of action.

In addition to the inability to demonstrate any agreement to create a joint venture, the Appellant further fail to present evidence of damages. Although damages do not need to be proven to a mathematical certainty, they cannot be left to conjecture or speculation. See Collins Entertainment, Inc. v. White et al. 363 S.C. 546, 611 S.E.2d 262 (Ct. App. 2005) cert denied 8/15/2006. (Generally, in order for damages to be recoverable, the evidence should be

such as to enable the court or jury to determine the amount thereof with reasonable certainty or accuracy. Well, neither of the existence, causation, nor amount of damages, can be left to conjecture, guess, or speculation, proof with mathematical certainty of the amount or loss of damages is not required). In this case, Appellant testified at length of the Respondent paying not only her but others in addition to paying the purchase price. Appellant testified that Respondent paid various subcontractors, including Havana, Linton, McGill, Falls, for a new HVAC system for the climate control system, for new garage doors, for carpet to name a few. (Tr. pp 205-217; pp. 81-85; pp. 102- 122; 136; 138; 139; 162- 170) In addition, Respondent paid property taxes, utilities, and insurance on the property. Appellant presented no evidence of any of the amounts for these expenses. If she had an agreement and the agreement was to split the net profit, the Appellant did not present evidence to demonstrate the net profit. Damages are an element of both causes of action and therefore the directed verdict was proper as failure to demonstrate those damages.

Appellant further claims that she wanted to be paid for the value of her labor. (Tr. p. 185). Appellant presented no evidence to demonstrate the value of her labor. She did not present any evidence to quantify her labor or what her labor was worth. Appellant obviously knew that pursuant to South Carolina code section 40-59-20, she was required to have a specialty contractor's license to perform the services of drywall, carpentry, painter/wallpapers, and the other things to which she testified. The failure to have a license barred her from bringing an action at law or in equity to collect for any of her alleged services. See S.C. Code Section 40-59-30(B). Appellant acknowledge she did not have a license. (Tr. p. 200)

Appellant was paid for her services and her labor and was reimbursed for all of her expenses. Her attempts to obtain additional monies from the Respondent were just that, an attempt to obtain monies to which she was not entitled. The Appellant had no money invested in this property. Appellant knew before she did any work on the property that her name was not on the title. (Tr. p 189). Appellant attempted to get a contract signed but that contract was not for a joint venture, it was for payment for labor and services.

B. The Appellant's cause of action for the betterment is not supported by the law.

The trial court directed a verdict against the Appellant as to the South Carolina betterment statute, 27-27-10, et. seq. The statute is not applicable to the facts of this case as a matter of law. A plain reading of the statute sets forth as follows:

That after final judgment, in favor of the Plaintiff, in an action to recover lands and tenements, if the Defendant has purchased or acquired lands or tenements recovered in such action or taken a lease thereof, or those under whom he holds, have purchased, or acquired title to such lands and tenements, or taking a lease thereof, supposing at the time of such purchase or acquisition, such title, to be good in theory, or such lease to convey and secure the title and interest there in expressed, such Defendant shall be entitled to recover of the Plaintiff in such action, the full value of all improvements made upon such land by such Defendant, or those under whom he claims, in the manner provided in this chapter. S.C. Code 27-27-10.

The Appellant does not fall within the class of individuals protected under the statute. First, the Appellant is the Plaintiff in this action, not the Respondent. In addition, in order to fall within the province of those individuals protected, it requires that she should have held title to the property and then been sued and divested of title to the property. In the case of hand, Appellant acknowledge that she never had title to the property. She is claiming a joint venture, which failed a set forth above. If she is

claiming ownership or title to the property, that fails due to the Statute of Frauds. The trial judge addressed this in the motion for directed verdict.

Even if the Appellant were part of the class, she also failed to demonstrate the value of the improvements. Pursuant to 27-27-20, damages are measured as follows:

The sum which such land shall be found at the time of the rendition of such judgment, to be worth more, and consequence of the improvements, so made, then it would have been had no such improvement or betterments been made, shall be deemed to be the value of such improvement or betterments.

As it relates to this valuation, the Appellant testified that multiple other subcontractors performed labor on the property. The Appellant also acknowledged that the Respondent paid for everything associated with the purchase, the upkeep and the improvements.

The entire statutory scheme for betterments it is to protect a defendant who has title to the property and believed he validly had title to the property, is sued and the title to the property is taken from that Defendant. The statute protects a Defendant for improvements he makes while in possession thinking he had a good title while in possession and making the improvements. The Appellant does not fit within the statutory scheme as she knew she did not have title to the property while working on the property. In fact, this claim for betterments was added after the Respondent asserted the defense of lack of licensure as a bar to recovery.

As such, the trial judge did not air in directing a verdict as to the betterment statute, as the Appellant does not fit within the class of individuals protected, and the Appellant failed to present evidence to give rise to a reasonable inference that Appellant would be entitled to recovery under this claim.

- C. The Appellant failed to demonstrate that a constructive trust should be imposed.**

The Appellant failed to present evidence to support a joint venture which were his first and second theories for relief. Having failed to present evidence of a joint venture, the court cannot reach the issue of a constructive trust. The constructive trust depends upon a partnership (joint venture) existing and fiduciary duty existing. As the Appellant argues, a constructive trust is used to vindicate rights and justice, or to frustrate fraud. The Appellant has not demonstrated any fraud nor that her rights have been violated. She knew the property was not in her name. She did not have any agreement, written or verbal upon which she can assert a claim to title to the property. She was paid for her work. The Appellant must prove the Respondent obtained property through some fraudulent or bad act. This case really is a simple breach of contract claim and when Appellant filed her initial lawsuit, seeking compensation for labor and materials and a mechanics lien to try to foreclose upon the property, it was a claim for breach of contract. The remedy for a breach of contract is a monetary judgment not a constructive trust. Appellant did not present any evidence to support the imposition of a constructive trust. There was no fraud or misrepresentation. There was a disagreement on the compensation and the Appellant's initial theories of relief were barred and she is attempting to find a way around the statutes barring her recovery.

In Appellants brief, she sets forth that the "evidence before the court established, not only a partnership relationship, but a breach of the duties of the highest degree of good faith and actions of bad faith by Respondents, obtaining the property in his name, alone, and without notice to his partner." The Appellant does present any evidence to establish a partnership and/or fiduciary duty or relationship prior to Respondent acquiring the property. Viewing the evidence in light most favorable to the Appellant, Respondent purchased the

property on his own after the Respondent asked her what she thought of the property. The Respondent allegedly offered to put up the money but the Appellant never accepted the alleged offer. The Appellant had no money invested and there was no consideration she provided to bind the Respondent to include her in the purchase of the property. Appellant had no money or time associated with the property prior to Respondent buying the property. Respondent paid the entire purchase price. Appellant gave no consideration, time, effort, money, or anything prior to Respondent buying the property. As such, there was no fiduciary relationship between them.

Before Appellant did anything on the property, she knew Respondent owned 100% in fee simple. Respondent had no duty or obligations to the Appellant. No legal relationship existed between the parties when Respondent closed on the purchase of the property and Appellant knew this as she acknowledged that she knew Respondent had purchased a property, and that it was in his name entirely. Appellant cannot now say there was a breach of a fiduciary duty. As such, the trial court did not err in directing a verdict on the constructive trust claim. No evidence exists in the record to support the elements for the imposition of a constructive trust.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING ON THE ALLEGED 408 EVIDENCE AND THE ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

Appellant made a pretrial motion in limine relating to the contract, Respondents Exhibit No. 2. Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting this document. First, the document has not been admitted into evidence. It was marked for identification purposes. In addition, during the pretrial motion in limine, the court took the time to remind counsel that he would need to object during the trial as to anything that was ruled upon adverse to him in

the motion in limine. In fact, the court directed the Appellant that it would allow Respondent's reference to contract an opening, but Appellant would need to object to it during the trial and the court would deal with it at that time. During cross-examination, Respondent questioned Appellant regarding text messages. The text message referred to the contract. The contract was marked for identification purposes. At no point did a Appellant object to this testimony or cross-examination. The failure to object to it means that any issues associated with this evidence is waived.

The law is clear that a ruling in limine is not final. Unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered in a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review. See State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.E.2d 284, 286, (2001). "An exception to this rule is when the motion in limine is made immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question. The South Carolina Supreme Court expanded the exception in the case of State v. Wiles, holding that, even when the evidence does not immediately follow the motion in limine, if the trial court clearly indicates its ruling is final, rather than preliminary, the issue is preserved for appellate review." State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 725 S.E.2d 730 (Ct. pp. 2012) Rehearing denied, May 24, 2012 and Cert Denied August 21, 2014. In this case, the exception does not apply because the trial judge even advised Appellant's counsel to make the objection during the testimony. No objection was made, and as such, no issue was preserved for review.

III. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVED ISSUES AS IT RELATES TO HEARSAY AS APPELLANT DOES NOT IDENTIFY WHAT OBJECTION HE IS APPEALING.

During the course of the trial, there were multiple evidentiary objections. In her brief, Appellant asserts that the trial judge erred in sustaining hearsay objections. The Appellant then

goes through and sites 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and Rule 801. The problem which exists is that Appellant is not referring to any specific evidentiary ruling during the trial of this case. Respondent submits that the trial judge did not err in any of the evidentiary rulings. Respondent submits that this court should ignore and disregard Appellant's argument regarding testimony and hearsay. A broad general statement of issues made by an Appellant may be disregarded by the appellate court, pursuant to appellate court rule 207 (b)(1)(B).

Sullivan Co, Inc. v. New Swirl, Inc. 313 S.C. 34, 347 S.E.2d 30 (1993).

The Appellant's argument regarding testimony is a broad statement, asserting that various evidentiary rulings may have been an error. Without knowing and having a basis upon which to argue as to any one decision, Appellant has therefore waived this argument. Respondent cannot go through and should not be required to go through the transcript and address the court's ruling on each objection and the reason why each objection was sustained properly. Appellant has the burden of demonstrating error and Appellant has not sufficiently identified and argued as to any evidentiary decisions.

CONCLUSION

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